ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 09 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEROD SWINTON,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-212564

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Violating Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to due process of law, the trial judge erred in failing to conduct an in camera hearing concerning the alleged victim's identification of Appellant as the perpetrator where police officers showed the alleged victim, who had known Appellant for several years, a single photograph of Appellant for identification purposes.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 8, 2011, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder. R.139 (Indictment). The prosecution, represented by Rutledge Durant, called the case for trial on May 16, 2012 before the Honorable Kristi Harrington and a jury. R. 1. Martha Kent Runey represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 132, line 24 – R. 133, line 5. During the sentencing proceeding, the prosecutor asked the judge “to take note that he has taken no responsibility, shown no remorse for this crime, and that mitigation is not available to him.” R. 135, lines 6 – 9. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to twenty years’ imprisonment. R. 138, lines 16 – 19; R. 141 (sentence sheet).

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

Violating Appellant's state and federal constitutional right to due process of law, the trial judge erred in failing to conduct an *in camera* hearing concerning the alleged victim's identification of Appellant as the perpetrator where police officers showed the alleged victim, who had known Appellant for several years, a single photograph of Appellant for identification purposes.

### **Relevant facts.**

During the trial, Appellant requested a hearing outside the presence of the jury regarding the alleged victim's identification of Appellant as the perpetrator and law enforcement's use of the photograph to confirm that identification. R. 11, line 23 – R. 12, line 1. The prosecutor informed the court that law enforcement showed the alleged victim a photograph at the hospital. R. 12, lines 4 – 6. Appellant's trial counsel explained her position as follows:

Well, Your Honor, I just want -- I feel like that the State has to establish how it was presented to the victim at the hospital, and from my understanding from the case that [the prosecutor] submitted to the Court. -- I just read it briefly when he showed it to me -- is that his plan was to put the victim up to testify to that identification, although it is different from Biggers.<sup>1</sup> I would request a hearing on that outside the presence of the jury.

R. 12, lines 16 – 24. To Appellant's request, the trial court responded as follows:

Well, my understanding [] is that they have known each other for an extended period of time, that [he] based [his] identification -- the identification was based upon [his] personal knowledge, not upon the picture, but [the] picture was merely a confirmation that the person [he] told the detective was, was [Appellant] is actually the person that Detective Kramitz knew as [Appellant], I don't know that we need at this point to -- the question is entirely different, and you're correct, in the court's mind, we don't need to establish -- it was merely a confirmation,

---

<sup>1</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1992).

not an ID. It was not the basis of [his] understanding of who [Appellant] is.

R. 13, lines 3 – 14. The prosecutor agreed with the trial court's position. R. 13, line 16. The parties then discussed the issue relating to discovery as it concerned the photograph. R. 13, lines 20 – 22. Thus, the court failed to hold an in camera hearing to determine the admissibility of the alleged victim's identification of Appellant.

Simon Simmons, the alleged victim, testified that on August 5, 2010, he and Appellant ran into each other about midday. The two returned to Simmons's home where the two reminisced, ate food, and drank beer. According to Simmons, he and Appellant attended school together and had known each other for approximately fifteen years; however, the two had not seen each other in a while. R. 19, line 17 – R. 21, line 25. The two visited for about an hour. R. 22, lines 16-22. Simmons claimed Appellant returned sometime after noon because Simmons owed him \$100 for cocaine. Simmons informed Appellant that he was waiting for someone to pay him money before he could pay Appellant. This encounter lasted between twenty and thirty minutes. R. 23, lines 1 – 24. Simmons alleged that Appellant returned a third time at midnight. Once again Simmons informed Appellant that he did not have the money he owed Appellant. The two decided to walk to the store for cigarettes. While walking to the store, Appellant allegedly pointed a gun at Simmons. R. 25, line 7 – R. 26, line 1. Simmons claimed that he threw his phone at Appellant and tried to run. He heard a gunshot and then fell on his back. He recalled Appellant walking over to him, shooting him twice, and running away. R. 29, lines 5 – 18. Simmons retrieved his phone and made his way back to his apartment. R. 30, line 23 – R. 31, line 5. His wife met him on the steps and called for police and an ambulance. R. 31, lines 5-10.

Simmons claimed he told his wife as soon as he arrived that Appellant was the person responsible for shooting him, and he repeated this story to the police officer who arrived. Importantly, Simmons claimed he identified Appellant by his nickname, "Rod Black." R. 32, lines 11-23. Simmons' wife, Veronica Black Simmons, testified similarly regarding the events of the day. She testified that Simmons identified his shooter as "Rob Black." R. 54, lines 6-9. Additionally, she testified that she knew the person only as "Rob Black." R. 60, lines 23-25. The questioning during direct examination was clear that Simmons referred to the nickname "Rod," whereas Simmons' wife referred to the nickname "Rob."

Eric Jourdan, an officer with the City of North Charleston Police Department, testified that he was the first person to arrive on the scene. R. 64, lines 2 – 3; R. 66, lines 18 – 20. He claimed he asked Simmons, who had shot him, and that Simmons replied "Jerod Swinton." R. 66, lines 13-15; R. 67, line 25 – R. 68, line 4. The second officer to arrive on the scene, Christopher Ware, testified that he too asked Simmons who had shot him and Simmons responded, "Jerod Swinton." R. 88, lines 5-12.

Alan Kramitz, another officer with the North Charleston Police Department, learned of the shooting from his sergeant. Pursuant to instructions from his sergeant, Kramitz obtained a photograph of Appellant and reported to the hospital to make contact with Simmons. R. 95, lines 8-18. When Kramitz began testifying regarding his showing Simmons the photograph, trial counsel renewed her prior objection. R. 97, lines 5-11. The judge permitted an "on-going objection as to this line of questioning." R. 97, lines 12-14. Kramitz testified that Simmons informed him that "Jerod Swinton" was responsible for the shooting. R. 98, lines 12-15. At the prosecutor's suggestion, Kramitz

testified that he took the photograph to the hospital to obtain “extra confirmation” that Simmons had been Appellant’s friend for a long period of time and knew him very well. R. 98, lines 19-25. Kramitz showed the photograph to Simmons, while Simmons was in the hospital and undergoing lifesaving measures, who reacted by identifying the person depicted in the photograph as the person who shot him. R. 99, lines 17-25. He further testified that Simmons called the person by name – “Jerod Swinton.” R. 100, lines 1-2.

On cross-examination, Kramitz revealed that he developed a sequential photo line-up in this case, but did not use it. Rather than using the line-up containing numerous photographs, Kramitz chose to use a single photograph. R. 103, line 24 – R. 104, line 11. On re-direct, Kramitz testified he put together a six-person photo array, which included Appellant’s photograph. However, he chose to use a single photograph because he did not “see any point in a six-photograph line-up” in light of Simmons and Appellant having known each other for a long period of time and the nature of Simmons’ injuries. R. 107, lines 2-18. According to Kramitz, a six-person photo array is useful where the victim does not know the suspect at all. R. 107, line 24 – R. 108, line 10.

During the discussion of the admission of the photograph used by Kramitz at the hospital to obtain an identification of Appellant by Simmons as the alleged perpetrator, Appellant stated: “Your Honor, I understand the decision of the Court in regards to the Biggers. This is somebody that the victim knew. I think that makes a difference.” R. 110, lines 14-16. Thereafter, Appellant argued the photograph was inadmissible as having not been provided in discovery. Ultimately, the court permitted the photograph to be admitted as redacted. R. 110, line 18 – R. 112, line 24.

The prosecution presented no physical evidence connecting Appellant to the shooting of Simmons. The police recovered no shell casings from the scene and found no weapon. R. 68, line 17 – R. 69, line 4; R. 71, lines 11-24; R. 73, lines 18-21; R. 75, lines 9-10; R. 75, line 23 – R. 76, line 8. The prosecution presented a video from a security camera from a Goodwill store, which was near where the shooting occurred. The video showed a person in dark clothing. According to the testifying officer, the relevant portion is “just a second, if that” and the person’s face is not identifiable. R. 102, lines 2-21; State’s #2.<sup>2</sup>

### **Discussion**

When law enforcement use an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification, an individual’s right to due process of law is violated. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 286, 540 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2000). If a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification, the in-court identification is not admissible. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977); Moore, 343 S.C. at 286, 540 S.E.2d at 447. In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1992), the United States Supreme Court created a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of out-of-court identifications. First, the trial court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. Next, the trial court must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Id. at 198. The central issue is whether the identification was reliable even though

---

<sup>2</sup> During deliberations, the jury asked for the exact time of the video. The judge informed the jurors “[t]here was no testimony as to the exact time.” Tr. 226, lines 4-8; Court’s Exhibit #3.

the confrontation procedure was suggestive under the totality of the circumstances. Id. The following factors should be considered when evaluating the totality of the circumstances: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Id. at 199; see also State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 450, 272 S.E.2d 628, 629 (1980).

Our courts have found some identification procedures patently suggestive. For example, in State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), our Supreme Court held a line-up procedure wherein three victims were in the same room, sitting within feet of each other, while observing photographic line-ups was blatantly unacceptable. Id. at 81-82, 600 S.E.2d at 527. Nevertheless, the Court found the identification was admissible based upon the totality of the circumstances. Those circumstances included the victims not conversing during the line-up and not being aware of whom the other victims selected, if anyone. The victims testified they observed the assailant from one minute to ten minutes and their prior descriptions generally matched that of the person identified. All testified they were certain of their identifications, which were made two days after the incident. Id. at 83, 600 S.E.2d at 527.

Our Supreme Court held a show-up identification was unduly suggestive in Moore, supra. A witness observed two people exiting her neighbor's home when she knew the neighbor was away. She called the police and provided a general description of the men, primarily focused on the clothing. Id. at 285, 540 S.E.2d at 447. Ninety minutes later, officers took the witness to an area where two men were being detained. The witness

positively identified the two men as the perpetrators. Her identification was based upon the clothing she observed. She admitted she had not really seen their faces earlier. Id. at 285-286, 540 S.E.2d at 447. As explained by the Court, “[s]ingle person show-ups are particularly disfavored in the law.” Id. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 448 (citing Stovall, 388 U.S. at 302; State v. Johnson, 311 S.C. 132, 134, 427 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1993); In the Interest of Jamal Rashee A., 308 S.C. 392, 418 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 1992)). The procedure in Moore was unduly suggestive. Id. Further, the Court found the identification unreliable as a matter of law because only one factor demonstrated reliability, which was clearly outweighed by the other factors, where the witness observed the two perpetrators for a brief time at a significant distance, the degree of attention was not great, and the accuracy of her description was tenuous. Id. at 449, 540 S.E.2d at 290.

Single photo arrays are akin to a single person show-up in that the alleged victim and/or eyewitness views only a single person to make an identification. In fact, the United States Supreme Court declared identifications arising from single photo displays are generally viewed with suspicion. Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 383 (1968).

In 1973, the South Carolina Supreme Court held a pretrial hearing was unnecessary where a witness knew the accused. The Court reasoned the requirement of pretrial procedural safeguards were an “attempt to avert the danger of mistaken identity by establishing mandatory constitutional and procedural safeguards.” State v. McLeod, 260 S.C. 445, 448, 196 S.E.2d 645, 646 (1973). As such “[t]he rules [were] designed for application where the accused and the victim [were] strangers to each other; they were never intended to apply where the victim knew the accused.” Id. Less than one month after Appellant’s trial, on June 6, 2012, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued its

decision in State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422 (2012). Relying upon Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 716 (2012), our Supreme Court held due process “mandates that preliminary judicial inquiry is required once it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by state action, regardless of the witness’s prior knowledge of the accused.” Liverman, 398 S.C. at 140, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (emphasis added). The Court explained that Perry “reemphasized the necessity of pretrial judicial review when an identification is infected by improper police influence.” Id. Further, the Court explicitly overruled McLeod. Id. at 140-141, 727 S.E.2d at 427.

Although the trial court in Liverman did not require a pretrial hearing to determine the admissibility of the identification pursuant to Biggers, supra, the trial court required the state to proffer the testimony of the witness concerning the witness’s prior association with Liverman, the circumstances surrounding the witness’s observations of the alleged criminal act, and the circumstances surrounding the witness’s identification pursuant to a show-up arranged by the police. Id. at 135-136, 727 S.E.2d at 424. Although the Supreme Court found the hearing failed to fully comport with the requirements of due process, the Court found the error was harmless. The Court recognized “the fact that an identification witness knows the accused remains a significant factor in determining reliability [and t]he suggestive nature of the show-up is mitigated by the witness’s prior knowledge of the accused.” Id. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427. The Court also agreed with “those jurisdictions that consider the show-up identification procedure, normally considered unduly suggestive, as merely confirmatory.” Id. at 142, 727 S.E.2d at 427. In Liverman, the Court held the

identification was admissible where the witness testified he knew Liverman before the shooting and identified him by his nickname to the police prior to the suggestive police orchestrated show-up. The Court concluded the in-court identification by the witness was the result of the prior association between the two and his observation of Liverman at the time of the shooting, and not the result of the suggestive show-up. *Id.* at 142, 727 S.E.2d at 428.