STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

SEP 27 2013
SC Court

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2012-212564

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JEROD SWINTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in failing to conduct an in camera hearing concerning the victim's identification of Appellant as the perpetrator is not preserved, but even if preserved, the trial court correctly denied Appellant's request for the hearing because Victim had known Appellant for years and had already identified Appellant by name prior to being shown the photograph merely as confirmation. Furthermore, any error was harmless because Victim's in-court identification had an independent origin and was not the tainted product of the circumstances surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.

Appellant argues the trial court violated Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law when it failed to conduct an in camera hearing concerning the victim's identification of Appellant as the perpetrator where police showed the victim a single photograph for identification purposes. However, at trial, Appellant's objection to the admission of the booking photograph shown to Victim at the hospital was based only on the fact Appellant claimed not to have received the correct photograph during discovery. Thus, this particular issue is not preserved for appellate review. However, even if preserved, any error was harmless because Victim had substantial prior knowledge of Appellant, which meant that his in-court identification had an independent origin and was reliable. Therefore, the identification procedure was merely confirmatory. Moreover, Victim's identification of Appellant was cumulative to other properly admitted evidence, which included Victim's wife's identification of Appellant. Accordingly, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts only review errors of law. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). "Whether an eyewitness identification is

sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact. In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 137-38, 727 S.E.2d 422, 425 (2012). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000).

Preservation

As an initial matter, Appellant’s issue on appeal is not preserved for review. Appellant argues in his brief that the trial court failed to conduct an in camera hearing concerning the victim’s identification of Appellant as the perpetrator where police showed the victim a single photograph for identification purposes. However, Appellant did not object on this specific basis at trial. On the contrary, Appellant told the trial court:

Your Honor, I understand the decision of the Court in regards to the Biggers. This is somebody that the victim knew. I think that makes a difference. **My argument as to this picture being admitted is that we were not provided it in discovery.** I say that we were not provided it; **I was given a booking photo of [Appellant].** I believe that the picture was shown to him without the booking information, but it is the booking photo. And I was just given notice of that today when we started the trial. And I ask **for that reason** that it be excluded.

(R. p.110, lines 14-23.) (emphasis added.) It is clear from the above exchange that Appellant was only objecting on the basis of not having been provided the exact photograph, the booking photograph without the booking information, in discovery. Even earlier in the trial when Appellant requested an in camera hearing and was told by

the trial court to object at the time of the photograph, defense counsel told the trial court, “Okay. **And that objection**, if I could state that on the record before we even get started **is, I have not been provided that picture through discovery.**” (R. p.13, lines 20-22.) (emphasis added.) Additionally, defense counsel stated, “And, Your Honor, I would just ask the Court to suppress that identification at the hospital based on failure to give that over to me.” (R. p.16, lines 3-5.) The argument that the trial court violated Appellant’s constitutional rights in failing to conduct a hearing was never raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011). “A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). Therefore, this issue is not preserved.

Merits

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-part test for courts to use in determining whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. 409 U.S. 188, 198 (1972). First, the court must determine whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures. Id. If so, the court must then determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Id. If the court determines the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, the court will look at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the identification was nevertheless reliable. Liverman, 398 S.C. 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. When looking at the totality of the circumstances, courts consider the following factors:

(1) [T]he witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.

Id.

In Liverman, our Supreme Court ruled that regardless of an eyewitness' prior knowledge of a defendant, "preliminary judicial inquiry is required once it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by state action." Liverman, 398 S.C. at 140, 727 S.E.2d at 427. In reaching its conclusion, our Supreme Court overruled its own precedent, which held that a Neil v. Biggers hearing was not necessary if the eyewitness had prior knowledge of the defendant.¹ The Supreme Court in Liverman relied upon Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S. Ct. 716 (2012), which, according to our Supreme Court, "reemphasized the necessity of pretrial judicial review when an identification is infected by improper police influence[.]" Liverman, 398 S.C. at 140-41, 727 S.E.2d at 427.

Although our Supreme Court in Liverman refused to hold that the hearing in that case fully comported with due process, the Court ultimately held that any error in not conducting the full Neil v. Biggers hearing was harmless. Id. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427. Notably, our Supreme Court in Liverman pointed out that "[n]o definite rule governs the finding that an error was harmless; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case." Id. In its harmless error analysis, the Court stated the following:

Although McLeod cannot survive Perry as a standalone basis for circumventing a Neil v. Biggers hearing, **the fact an identification witness knows the**

¹ State v. McLeod, 260 S.C. 445, 196 S.E.2d 645 (1973).

accused remains a significant factor in determining reliability. The suggestive nature of a show-up is mitigated by the witness' prior knowledge of the accused. **We concur with those jurisdictions that consider the show-up identification procedure, normally considered unduly suggestive, as merely confirmatory.**

Liverman, 398 S.C. at 141-142, 727 S.E.2d at 427-428 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, in People v. Rodriguez, a case our Supreme Court relied upon in Liverman, the Court of Appeals of New York explained the “confirmatory exception” to the hearing requirement for suggestive pretrial identification procedures. People v. Rodriguez, 593 N.E.2d 268, 272 (N.Y. 1992). The Rodriguez court noted the following:

“When a crime has been committed by *a family member, former friend or long-time acquaintance* of a witness there is little or no risk that comments by the police, however suggestive, will lead the witness to identify the wrong person. . . . But in cases where the prior relationship is fleeting or distant it would be unrealistic to ignore the possibility that police suggestion may improperly influence the witness in making an identification.”

A court's invocation of the “confirmatory identification” exception is thus tantamount to a conclusion that, as a matter of law, **the witness is so familiar with the defendant that there is “little or no risk” that police suggestion could lead to a misidentification.** This is so because, as a consequence of applying the exception, the defendant will be denied a . . . hearing to explore suggestiveness. In effect, it is a ruling that however suggestive or unfair the identification procedure might be, there is virtually no possibility that the witness could misidentify the defendant.

The exception may be confidently applied where the protagonists are family members, friends or acquaintances or have lived together for a time. At the other extreme, it clearly does not apply where the familiarity emanates from a brief encounter.

Id. at 271-72 (internal citations omitted) (second emphasis added). Liverman also cited State v. Taylor, 594 N.W.2d 158 (Minn. 1999), for its “holding that the show-up

procedure was not suggestive but merely confirmatory where witness previously singled out assailant by nickname and had seen him around her apartment building at least ten times before the show-up took place.” Id. at 142, 727 S.E.2d at 427-28.

Here, the photograph police showed to Victim after he had already named Appellant as the shooter merely served to confirm the identity. Prior to admitting the booking photograph, which the trial court modified in response to Appellant’s request, the trial court heard testimony from Victim regarding his extensive prior knowledge of Appellant. Victim testified he knew Appellant for approximately fifteen years. (R. p.20, lines 14-17.) He testified he and Appellant had gone to school together and that Appellant used to come to his house “a while back,” but that he had not seen him in a while. (R. p.20, lines 17-19.) By the time Victim saw the photograph Detective Kramitz showed him at the hospital, he had already identified Appellant based on this long friendship. Thus, Victim’s identification based on the booking photograph was merely confirmatory and fit squarely into the “confirmatory exception.”

Appellant argues in his brief that he was entitled to a pretrial hearing regarding the admissibility of Victim’s identification in light of the suggestive procedures used by the police. Specifically, he argues the record lacks information concerning Victim’s ability to observe the shooter and lacks evidence of the lighting conditions at the scene. However, Victim testified that he was with Appellant when they left his apartment to go to the store for cigarettes and walked into the alley together, at which time Appellant pulled out a gun and shot him twice. There was no reason to require testimony of Victim’s ability to see when he was walking with Appellant when the shooting occurred.

Victim testified that on the day of the incident, Appellant came to Veronica’s apartment numerous times. Veronica also testified regarding these visits. Notably,

without objection, both Victim and Veronica made in-court identifications of Appellant and testified regarding their out-of-court identifications of Appellant. (R. p.21, lines 13-19; R. p.32, lines 11-23; R. p.48, lines 8-17; R. p.54, lines 8-9.) Victim identified Appellant as the perpetrator immediately following the crime. As soon as he made it back from the alley to his apartment, he told his wife the person who had shot him was Rod Black, Appellant's nickname. (R. p.32, lines 12-25.) When the police arrived, Victim told the police Appellant shot him. (R. p.34, lines 14-18.) Additionally, Victim's wife testified that Victim told her Rob Black shot him. (R. p.54, lines 6-9.) While Appellant argues in his brief about inconsistencies in the identification of the shooter because of the names Jerod Swinton, Rod Black, and Rob Black, these inconsistencies are easy to explain. Victim testified Appellant's nickname was Rod Black and that he had known him by that nickname as long as he had known him. (R. p.32, lines 16-25.) Victim's wife testified she knew Appellant only as Rob Black and stated, "Well, I thought that's what they was [sic] calling him, Rob Black." (R. p.60, lines 23-14.) Furthermore, Victim told police Jerod Swinton was the person who shot him. It is clear Jerod Swinton, Rod Black, and Rob Black were all names of Appellant. Although Victim and his wife gave the police officers two similar yet different nicknames for Appellant, Rod and Rob, this mistake did not negate the reliability of the identifications. Despite Veronica's confusion regarding Appellant's nickname, Victim was able to give the police officers Appellant's actual name, which ultimately led to Victim confirming Appellant's identity by looking at a photograph the police provided.

Many of the safeguards noted by the United States Supreme Court in Perry and our Supreme Court in Liverman were at work in Appellant's trial. See Perry, 132 S. Ct. at 728-29; Liverman, 398 S.C. at 143, 727 S.E.2d at 428 ("These protections include the

defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the eyewitness. Another is defendant's right to the effective assistance of an attorney, who can expose the flaws in the eyewitness' testimony during cross-examination and focus the jury's attention on the fallibility of such testimony during opening and closing arguments.'").

The reliability of Victim's identification was fully vetted at trial. During cross-examination of Victim, Appellant's trial counsel discussed the weaknesses of Victim's identification, including the fact that Victim identified the photograph of Appellant while ill in the hospital. (R. p.39, lines 8-12.) He also elicited the fact that Victim was not interested in participating in the prosecution of the case and never gave a detailed statement to police. (R. p.39, lines 16-23.) In cross-examining Veronica, Appellant's trial counsel focused on discrepancies between her statement and her testimony. (R. p.58, line 3-R. p.60, line 10.) He also pointed out that Veronica only knew Appellant as Rob Black, not Jerod Swinton. (R. p.60, line 23-R. p.61, line 4.) Additionally, during closing arguments, Appellant's trial counsel discussed the weaknesses of Victim's and Veronica's identifications, casting doubt on their credibility. (SROA. p.1-6.) In light of these protections afforded to Appellant during trial, any error in the trial judge's denial of a Neil v. Biggers hearing was harmless.

Additionally, both Victim and Veronica testified they had run into Appellant earlier in the day and that he had visited the apartment four times that day. Both testified he came back around midnight and that Victim left with Appellant to walk to the store for cigarettes. Victim testified Appellant stopped in an alley and shot him twice, and Veronica testified approximately ten to fifteen minutes after the two men left to go to the store, she heard Victim calling for her and discovered him shot. In light of this evidence, any error was harmless.

In summary, any suggestiveness of the identification process was mitigated by Victim's extensive prior knowledge of Appellant. Because Victim had extensive prior knowledge of Appellant, his identification was merely confirmatory and there was little to no risk that the police's conduct in this case could have led to a misidentification. Furthermore, Victim's identification was merely cumulative to other properly admitted testimony, and Appellant received many safeguards at trial. Accordingly, even if the trial judge erred in not conducting a Neil v. Biggers hearing, any error was harmless. Thus, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence.